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ero v. Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands State Board of Education et al

FILED
Clerk
District Court
MAY 30 2018
for the Northern iana Islands
By

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  (Deputy/Clerk)
FOR THE NORTHERN MARIANA ISLANDS

CYNTHIA DELEONGUERRERO, CaseNo.: 18€v-00006

Plaintiff,

DECISION AND ORDER GRANTING

Vs DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS

CNMI STATEBOARD OF EDUCATION et
al.,

Defendants.

l. INTRODUCTION
Plaintiff CynthiaDeLeonGuerrerchasfiled acivil rightsactionagainstherformeremployer,
the CNMI Board of Educationand membersof the Board. (SeeCompl., ECF No. 1 at 4-24.)
Defendantsemovedthe casefrom the CNMI Superior Courto this Court,andnow seekto dismiss
for failure to stateaclaim. (Motion, ECFNo. 6.) The Courtremandedhestatelaw claimsafterthe
motionto dismisswasfiled (Order,ECFNo. 23),andthemotionwill thereforebeconsiderednly as
to thefederalclaimsthatwerenotremanded.

The motion hasbeenfully briefed,andthe Courtheardargumenton May 17, 2018. Having
consideredheargumentf thepartiesandreviewedtherecord,Defendantsimotionis GRANTED.
. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff wasemployedasthe Commissioneor Chief ExecutiveOfficer of the CNMI Public

SchoolSystem. (Compl.114-5,ECFNo. 1 at5.) Heremploymenicontractwasfor aterm of four
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years‘subjectto the conditionsetforth” in thecontract(id. §1(d)), including hatPlaintiff “servesat
thewill of theBOE” andcould be‘terminatedat anytime by the BOE, with or withoutcauseupon
the positive vote ofthree(3) of its electedmembers.”(ld. § 6.) In addition, thecontractstatedthat
therewas“no right to renewal’expresslyor impliedly afterthe four-yeartermexpired. (Id. 1 7.)

On October 20, 201 Rlaintiff wasservedwith a noticefrom DefendantAda informing her
that Defendantsvould be evaluatingher on October25. (Id. 1 26.) Plaintiff requestedo attendthe
discussion oherevaluation, butvasrefused. (Id. { 27.) On October30, 2017 Defendants/otedto
terminatePlaintiff's employmentwithoutcause.(ld. § 15.) Following this vote,Defendantsnadea
public statementhat Plaintiff wasterminatedbecause sh&vas not gettingalongwith them.” (Id.
16.) Plaintiff allegesthatthis statemenshowsherterminationwasfor cause.(Id.)

Additionally, Plaintiff claimsthat her terminationwasin retaliation“for her calling out and
guestioning th®efendantsn their continuednismanagemertf PSSandPlaintiff’'s continuedefusal
to consento Defendants’continuedrequestfor funding.” (Id.  17.) In particular,Plaintiff alleges
that sherefusedto removecertainofficials from their posts upomequestfrom the Boardthat she
guestioned®SSemployeestravel expensesiefusedthe Board’simproperdemando requirePSSto
fundlegal counsel positiongndrefusedthe Board’'sdemando transfer$175,000rom PSSfundsto
the Board. Id. 1918-21.)

Following her termination, Plaintiff filed a lawsuit in the Superior Courtfor the
Commonwealthof theNorthernMarianalslands,assertingour cause®f actionagainstDefendants.
(SeegenerallyCompl.) Sheclaimsthattheyviolatedher constitutionakightsto hergoodnameand

propertyby failing to afford her noticeand hearingprior to termination;conspiredto violate these
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rights; wrongfully terminatecher;andbreachedheremploymentontract. (Id.) Defendantsemoved
the casefrom the Superior Courto this Court. (Notice of Removal, ECF No. 1.) The Court
subsequentlyemandedhe statelaw claims of breachof contractandwrongful terminationclaims.
(Order,ECFNo. 23.) Defendants nogeekto dismisstheremainingcounts.
. LEGAL STANDARD

To survive amotionto dismissunder Rule 12(b)(6) of tHeederaRulesof Civil Procedurea
pleading“must containsufficient factual matter,acceptedastrue, to statea claim for relief that is
plausible onts face.” Ashcroftv. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)Bell Atlantic Corp.v. Twombly
550 U.S. 544, 555-56 (2007).In other words, theleadingmust contain‘more than labels and
conclusions”; thée[flactual allegationsmust be enougto raisearight to relief above aspeculative
level.” Eclectic Props.East,LLC v. Marcus & Millichap Co, 751 F.3d 990, 998th Cir. 2014)
(quotingTwombly 550U.S.at 555). Thus, @ourtmust“identify pleadingghat,becauseheyareno
morethanconclusionsarenotentitledto the assumption of truthgndthenconsider whether theell-
pleadedhllegationscould “plausiblygive riseto anentitiemento relief.” Id. (quotinglgbal, 556U.S.
at 678-79). If thewell-pleadedallegatons“are merely consistenwith a defendant’diability,” the
plausibility thresholdhasnot beensatisfied. Id. (quotinglgbal, 556U.S.at 678.) But “[a] claim has
facial plausibilitywhentheplaintiff pleadsactualcontenthatallowsthe courto draw thereasonablg
inferencethatthe defendarnis liable for the misconducalleged.” Igbal, 556U.S.at 678.

V. DISCUSSION
A. Notice of Substitution

As an initial matter, Plaintiff contendsthat the Notice of Substitutionfiled by the

A1%4
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CommonwealthAttorneyGeneralis invalid. (Opp.Br. 6—7,ECFNo. 13.) The AttorneyGeneralfiled
aNoticeof Substitutionstatingthatpursuanto 7 CMC 8§ 2210(a)all Defendantsverebeingreplaced
by the Commonwealttbecausaheywereactingin their official capacitiesat the time Plaintiff was
terminated. (Notice of SubstitutionECF No. 2; Certificationof Scopeof EmploymentECFNo. 2-
1)

Under 7CMC § 2210(a), the Attorne@eneraimaycertify thatadefendantwas actingwithin
the scope of his/haffice oremploymaet at thetime of the incident out ofvhich theclaimarose’and
the claim “shall be deemedan action againstthe Commonwealthand the Commonwealtrshall be
substitutedas the party defendant.” 7 CMC § 2210(a). This certification processis part of the
CommonwealtrEmployees'Liability ReformandTort Compensatioi\ct of 2006(“Reform Act”),
whichwasdesignedo limit the Commonwealth’Bability in tort casesonsistentith thelimitations
imposed under thEederalTort ClaimsAct (“FTCA”). See7 CMC § 2201,Comment:Pub.L. 15-22
§ 2 Findingsand Purpose, July 28, 2006The Commonwealth’sstatutefurther providesthat the
statutoryschemes exclusiveof all otherremediesgxceptin casesamongother things, involving
violations of theJ.S. or ComnonwealthConstitutions.7 CMC 8§ 2208(b)(2)(A).

The claims in Plaintiff's case allege violations of theU.S. Constitution. Thus, the
Commonwealth’®ReformAct is not theexclusiveremedyfor Plaintiff’'s cause®f action,andPlaintiff
is not boundoy the limitations of theReformAct with regardto which defendantsnaybenamed.See
Christianv. CommonwealthCaseNo. 14-cv-00010, 2016NL 4004574 at*1 (D.N. Mar. I. July7,
2016)(denyingnoticeof substitutiorwhenfederalstatutegprovidedfor separte causeof actionand

thereforeReform Act did not applyto plaintiff). This resultis consistentwith the Commonwealth
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legislature’sntentto modelthetort liability acton theFTCA. Under thed=TCA, “constitutionalclaims
areoutside the purview” of thiemitationsimposedoy the Act. Billings v. United States57 F.3d 797
800(9th Cir. 1995) (substitution dinitedStatedor SecretServiceAgentsdid notaffectconstitutiona
claims, and citing 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2679(b)(2)(A)which statesthat the U.S. Attorney General’s
certificationandsubstitution authority does napplyto violations of the Constitution)Accordingly,
theNotice of Substitutions improperandis denied.

B. Claim I: Violation of Fourteenth Amendment

Defendantdirst submitthat Plaintiff fails to statea dueprocessclaim becauseasan at-will
employeeshelacksa propertyinterestin heremployment.(Motion 10-14, ECFNo. 7.) Further,to
the extent that Plaintiff is alleging an equal protection violation,she has failed to allege a
discriminatorypurpose fohertermination. (Id. at 9-10, 14.)

To statea dueprocessriolation, aplaintiff mustprovethreeelements:“(1) a propertyinterest
protectedby the Constitution(2) a deprivation of thénterestby the governmentanda (3) lack of
requiredprocess.” Ulrich v. City and Cnty. of SanFranciscq 308 F.3d 968, 9749th Cir. 2002)
(quotingPortmanv. Cnty. of Santa Clara995 F.2d 898, 90@®th Cir. 1993)). Dueprocessappliesto
publicemployeesf they“have a‘propertyinterest’in thetermsor conditions otheiremployment.’
Id. at 975. The propertyinterestis establishedy “an independent sourcichasstatelaw—rulesor
understandingthat securecertainbenefitsandthat supportclaims of entittementto those benefits.
Id.

Plaintiff contends sheéhas a protectedliberty interestin her good name, and that the

employmentcontractis constitutionallyprotected property.(Compl. 1 33—-34,ECF No. 1 at 10.)
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With respectto the allegedliberty interest,Plaintiff relieson Board of Regents of Sta@ollegesv.
Roth 408 U.S. 564 (1972),for the propositionthat damageto her reputationgives rise to a
constitutionalright to a hearingprior to termination. (Opp.Br. 9.) Theallegeddamageo her good
nameis that Defendantstatedpublicly that shewas*“terminatedbecauseshewasnot gettingalong
with them.” (Compl. 1 16.)

Thisargumenis unpersuasiveThe SupremeCourthas,sincedecidingRoth clarified thatan

“interestin reputatioralone”is not aliberty or propertyright. Paulv. Davis 424U.S.693, 711 (1976).

Thus,to pleada dueprocessclaim involving harmto one’s reputation, plaintiff mustalsopleada
deprivation of aseparatdiberty or propertyinterestandthatthe statehaschanged orerminatedthat
constitutionallyprotectednterest. Id. at 711-12. Accordingly, Plaintiff cannotasseria dueprocess
claimbasedsolelyon her reputatiorgsit is not aconstitutionallyprotectediberty or propertyinterest.

Furthermorethe allegedharmto her reputation does ndatisfythe level of stigmathat the
statemustinflict to bring a dugrocesslaim. Thestigmaimposed musbe onethat“might seriously
damagehis standing@andassociationg his community”or foreclose'his freedomto takeadvantage
of otheremploymentopportunities.” Ulrich v. City and Cnty. of SanFranciscq 308 F.3d 968982
(9th Cir. 2002). Here,Plaintiff allegess thattheBoardstatedpublicly that shevasnotgettingalong
with them. Thisis far afield from theharmcausedy the statethatmaygive rise,in conjunctionwith

a decisionto terminateemploymentto an actionableclaim. Specifically, nothing abouPlaintiff’s

inability to “get along” with the boardsuggestslishonestyimmorality, or misconductanddoes not

show shewas foreclosedfrom subsequenemploymentas a result. SeeRoth 408 U.S. at 573

(suggesting dishonesty or miscondaibtgationsn connectiorwith employmentmaygiveriseto due

3%
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processclaim); Ulrich, 308 F.3dat 982 (defamationin connectionwith employment decisiomay
give rise to due processlaim). Accordingly, Plaintiff cannotstatea claim basedon harmto her
reputation.

Next, with respecto theemploymentontract Plaintiff againrelieson Rothto arguethatshe
has a propertsightin heremploymentontractevenif it wasan“at will” contract (Opp.Br. 11-12.)
However,the Supreme Couih Roth clearly held that propertyinterests“are not createdby the
Constitution,”and a plaintiff must have &legitimate claim of entitlement’to a contractunderstate
law. 408U.S.at577—78. Thus,anypropertyinterestPlaintiff hasin hercontractmustarisefrom the
law of the CNMI. Rothdid not considewhethersucha right existsunderCNMI law andtherefore
does notanswerthe threshold questicamsto whetherthereis any propertythat merits constitutiona
dueprocesgprotection.

Plaintiff's counsekuggestediuring thehearingthat Connellv. Higginbotham 403U.S. 207
(1971),demonstratedhatall publicemployeesiadapropertyinterestin continuedemploymentand
wereoweddue process prido terminationevenif theylackedaformalcontractortenure.ln Connell|
the Supreme Courvasfacedwith the question of howo balancean employee’sconstitutionally]
guaranteedght of freespeectwith thestate’srightto placeconditions oremploymentandconcluded
thata publicemployeewhorefusedo signanoathstatinghe or she did“not believein the overthrow
of the Governmentby forceor violence must baffordeddue procesprior to termination.Id. In so
holding, the Supreme Cowtasnotaskedo consideanddid not opine onvhethertheemployeavho
wasterminatechada propertynterestin hercontinuedemployment.Connellcannottherefore stand

for thebroadpropositionthatall at-will employeedave aconstitutionallyprotectednterestin their
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continuedemployment,and does not provehat Plaintiff hasa propety right in her employment
contract.

The Courthasreviewedthe CNMI law andthecontractandfindsthatPlaintiff hasno property
interestin heremploymentontract. Underthe contract,Plaintiff's term of four yearswassubjectto
all other conditions othe contract. (Contract] 1(d).) The other conditiongxpresslystatedthat she
served‘at thewill of theBOE” andhadnoright to renewalafterthe fouryeartermexpired. In other
words, Plaintiff’'s contractwasfor at most fouryearsbutit coud beterminatedat anytime without
cause.

Thesecontractuatermsare consistentvith local law, which providesthat the Commissione
of Educatiori'shall serveatthepleasureof theboardandshallbe appointethy theBoardof Education
for atermof four yearsandmayberemovedoy amajority vote of thenembersf the board.”1 CMC
§ 2272. Plaintiff thereforehadnoreasonablexpectatiorof continuecemploymentandthereforevas
an“at will” employeewith no propertyright for purposes of the dymoces<lause.

This conclusiornis consistenwith casdaw interpretingtheeffectof similar CNMI statutes.In
Hofschneiden. Demapancastrg this Courtconsideredalaw providing for the appointment dfie
Commissioneiof the MarianasPublic Lands Authoritywhich statedthat the Commissionef'shall
serveat the pleasureof the Board of Directors” of the MPLA. CaseNo. 04-cv-00022, 2005/VL
817710at*2 (D.N. Mar.l. Apr. 11, 2005).Giventhislimitation on the Commissioneresmployment
theplaintiff lackeda “reasonablexpectatiorof continuedemployment”andthereforedid nothavea
propertyinterestarisingfrom hisemploymentontract.Id. at*3. TheCNMI Supreme Coureached

the sameconclusionwhen considering dour-year contractfor the Commissioneiof Public Lands.

.
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DeLeonGuerrerov. Dep’t of Public Lands2011MP 3 110, 14 (2011).In so holding, theCNMI
Supreme Courstressedhat becausehe statutestatedthe “Commissionershall serveat the pleasure
of theBoardof Directors,”theCommissionewasan“at will” employeavholackedapropertyinterest
in continuedemploymentvendespite the fouyearterm of thecontract. Id. 1110, 18.

As with thetwo casegsliscusse@bove Plaintiff’'s employments limitedby astatutendicating
that she“shall serveat the pleasure”of theBoard of Education. This statutorytext thereforemakes
clearthatsheisan“at will” employeeandtherefordacksapropertyinterestn continuecemployment
Accordingly,Plainiff cannotstateaclaim for a dueprocessviolation.

Finally, Plaintiff alsoallegeshatherterminationviolatedCNMI public policyandtheimplied
covenant of gooéhith andfair dealing. (Opp.Br. 14-17.) Neitherof thesestatelaw claimsarecivil
rights violationsthatmay beraisedvia 42 U.S.C. § 1983Pototskyv. Napolitang 210F. App’x 637
(9th Cir. 2006)(“Section1983 does not providecauseof actionfor allegedviolations ofstatelaw.”).
Moreover, public policandtheimplied covenant do nalterPlaintiff's statusasanatwill employee
andthereforedo notchangehattheemploymentontractis not a propertynterestfor purposes othe
due processlause. SeeSummerss. City of McCall, 84 F. Supp. 3d 1126, 114@. Idaho 2015)
Instead, public policyand the implied covenant impose obligations on theployerwith regardto
how it shoulddealwith employeesandfailure to follow themmay give rise to statelaw claimsfor
wrongful terminationor theimplied covenant of goodhith andfair dealing. However,they do no
generatenew constitutionallyprotectedoropertyrights. I1d. Accordingly, the due proceskim must

bedismissed.
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C. Claim II: Conspiracyto Violate Civil Rights

Defendantsnext contendthat, Plaintiff hasfailed to sufficiently allege an agreementthat
Defendantgarriedoutovertacts,andinvidiousdiscriminatoryanimus.(Motion 15-16.)As aninitial
matter,Plaintiff hasnot specifiedwhich subsection o$ection1985is the basisof herclaim, but the
Court assumest is section1985(3),assubsection§l) and(2), which addresgonspiracie$o prevent
officers from performing their duties and obstructing justice, appear irrelevant to Plaintiff's
allegations.

To pleada conspiracyo violate civil rightsundersection1985(3), aclaimantmust showthat
the defendantgl) conspired(2) for the purposes of deprivindirectly or indirectly, a persoror class
of theequalprotectionof thelaws;(3) causedanyactto bedonein furtherancef the conspiracyand
(4) injured another’s person propertyor deprived anotheaf anyright or privilege of acitizenof the
United States. Griffin v. Breckenridge403U.S. 88, 102-03 (1971)Additionally, a plaintiff must
allege that the deprivationwas motivated by “some racial, or perhapsotherwise classbased
invidiouslydiscriminatoryanimus.” Seven. AlaskaPulp Corp, 978 F.2d 1529, 153®th Cir. 1992).
This invidiousdiscriminatoryanimusextendsbeyondrace,but “only whentheclassin questioncan
showthattherehasbeena governmentadeterminatiorthatits membergequireandwarrantspecial
federalassistancén protectingtheir civil rights.” Id. Thus, the court must hadesignatedheclass
assuspecbr quasisuspecbr Congress mugtdicatethe $atusthroughlegislation. Id.

Here, as set forth above,Plaintiff lacks a constitutionallyprotectedproperty interestand
thereforecannotstatea claimfor deprivation oherdueprocessights. Accordingly, she cannoasa

matterof law, satisfythefinal elementof asection1985(3)claim—deprivation of aight. Moreover,

1C
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Plaintiff's allegationstakenasa whole, do nosufficiently pleadinvidious discriminatoryanimus
She contendthat Defendantsonspiredo deprive her oherdue procesdaghtsby firing her without
causeeventhough theerminationwasactuallyfor cause.As discussedbove, théfor cause’is that
Plaintiff was“not gettingalong”with theBoard. (Compl. § 16.)Further,sheallegesthattheaction
was takenin retaliation for her refusingto comply with the Boards’allegedlyimproper demands.
Nowheredoes the complaint suggdisatPlaintiff wasterminatedonaccouniof raceor othemprotected
status. Instead, thallegedly“for causeterminationwasmotivatedby discad betweerPlaintiff and
Defendantswhich is insufficient to demonstrate invidiousliscriminatory animus. Accordingly,
Plaintiff's section1985claim must bedismissed.

D. Qualified Immunity

Defendantglaimthatbecaus®laintiff hasfailedto stateaclaim andto showthattheyviolated
aclearlyestablishedight, theyareentitledto qualifiedimmunity. (Motion 16—17.) Becausdlaintiff
hasfailed to stateaclaim, the CourineednotreachwhetherDefendantareentitledto immunity.
1

/

11




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

22

23

24

V. CONCLUSION
For thereasonssetforth above,Defendants motionto dismiss(ECF No. 6) is GRANTED.
Plaintiff's federalclaimsareDISMISSEDWITH PREJUDICE.

TheClerkis directedto close thecase.

IT ISSOORDEREDthis 30th day oMay, 2018.

L tedlons—

RAMONA V. MNGLONA
Chief Judge
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